




September 18, 2025 2  AGENDA 

5.1 APPROVAL OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING 
MINUTES OF AUGUST 21, 2025 

6. PUBLIC HEARINGS:
6.1 A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF PLYMOUTH

APPROVING A TEMPORARY USE PERMIT (PA 2025-12) TO ALLOW A 
TEMPORARY HALLOWEEN ATTRACTION ON A 30 ACRE PARCEL LOCATED AT 
9424 PACIFIC STREET (APN 010-150-016) 

RECOMMENDATION: Hold a Public Hearing, receive public testimony, review, 
discuss and adopt Resolution 2025-10.  

7. UNFINISHED BUSINESS: NONE

8. NEW BUSINESS:

8.1 REVIEW AND DISCUSS POTENTIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE USE MATRIX AND
DEFINITIONS FOR COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES 

RECOMMENDATION: Conduct a Study Session, receive public testimony, review, 
discuss and give staff direction on possible changes or additions to the Use Matrix. 

9. REPORTS:
• Commission
• Chairperson
• Planning Director
• City Staff

10. ADJOURNMENT

The next regularly scheduled Planning Commission Meeting date is October 2, 2025. The meeting 
will begin at 6:30 PM. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
Public documents related to items on the open session portion of this agenda, which are distributed 
to the Planning Commission no less than 72 hours prior to the meeting, shall be available for public 
inspection at the Planning Clerk’s office located at Plymouth City Hall and at the time of the meeting. 

NOTICE: 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need a disability-related 
modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, to participate in this 
meeting, please contact the Planning Clerk at (209) 245-6941 Ext. 254 at least 48 hours prior to 
the meeting. 

CERTIFICATION OF POSTING OF AGENDA 
I, Dana Knight, Planning Clerk for the City of Plymouth, declare that the foregoing agenda for the 
September 18, 2025 Regular Meeting of the Plymouth Planning Commission was posted and 
available for review on September 15, 2025 at the City Hall of the City of Plymouth, 9426 Main 
Street, Plymouth, California, 95669. The agenda is also available on the city website at 



September 18, 2025 3  AGENDA 

www.cityofplymouth.org. 

Signed September 15, 2025 at Plymouth, California 

//s//  
  Dana Knight  
  Planning Clerk 



5.1 











6.1 



 
PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.1  

9/18/2025 

 

SUBJECT:   Haunted Forest (9424 Pacific Street) Temporary Use Permit (PA 
2025-12) 

 
DEPARTMENT:   Planning Department 
 
STAFF:     Erica Fraser, AICP, Planning Director 
    
 

TITLE 

Resolution approving a Temporary Use Permit for a Haunted Forest (Halloween 
attraction) located at 9424 Pacific Street. 
 

BACKGROUND 
The applicant proposes to use the existing property for a Halloween attraction that 
will feature temporary sets, decorations, actors, food trucks, and similar amenities. 
Because this operation is temporary (for select days during the month of September 
through the end of October) and not permanent, a Temporary Use Permit is required. 
 
Temporary Use Permits are reviewed by the Planning Director. In this case, due to 
the unique nature of the request and because the proposed attraction is located in a 
residential area, the Planning Director has transferred the reviewing authority for this 
permit to the Planning Commission in accordance with Section 19.04.140(B).  

Site and Existing Conditions 

The project site is a developed parcel located at 9424 Pacific Street. The property is 
approximately 30 acres. The history of the site includes past industrial operations 
and the site is developed with dirt roads, parking, and structures. The site is 
connected to utilities. Although the site is currently zoned Standard Residential (SR), 
this site was zoned industrial prior to the 2014 Zoning Ordinance update and the 
industrial uses continued on the site until a few years ago. 
 
The following figure shows the project location. A plan showing all parcels can be 
found in the written statement included as Attachment 2 (please note that the 
optional exit directly onto HWY 49 is not a part of this project as it was not approved 
by Caltrans). 
 





 
PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.1  

9/18/2025 

2. The Applicant operated a similar attraction in another City for a number of years 
prior to relocating to Plymouth. 

The proposed application is for a Temporary Use Permit. This means that the City will 
only be granting approval of The Haunted Forest for the end of September through 
October of 2025. Should the operators wish to hold the attraction again next year, 
they will need to reapply for a Temporary Use Permit, and the City can evaluate the 
proposal again and require modifications or additional conditions if warranted. 

Operation Characteristics 

The Haunted Forest will be open from Wednesday through Saturday. The daytime 
attraction (Enchanted Trail) will occur from 9 AM – 7 PM and the evening attraction 
will occur from 7 PM – Midnight. 

Tickets are pre-sold and come with a specific date and time entry. The time slots are 
every 15 minutes with no more than 45 tickets per time block (the number of tickets 
corresponds to people, not number of cars). 

The site will also have two to three food trucks, and the existing truss shade structure 
will be used as a picnic area. 

Parking will occur on site in the existing parking lot for the existing building. 

Although the existing site was developed with industrial uses, the proposed attraction 
is within a residential neighborhood. Staff has received two objections (Attachment 
5) in writing. Staff has some concerns with the ending of the attraction at midnight 
on Wednesdays and Thursdays and traffic on a residential street at that time.  

Staff recommends that Condition of Approval No. 2 be incorporated which reduces 
the hours of operation to 9AM – 10PM Wednesday and Thursday. On weekends, 
participants should be limited to 30 patrons during the hours of 10PM – Midnight to 
limit the number of cars on Pacific Street. The Planning Commission, however, has 
the approving authority and can allow the Applicant to proceed as proposed or further 
limit the hours of operation. 

Because this is a Temporary Use Permit and the Applicants will need to apply again 
next year if they wish to operate during 2026, the Planning Commission can further 
restrict the hours or expand the hours if warranted. 

Employees and Security 

The Haunted Forest will employ 30 to 40 part-time/seasonal employees.  

The site will also employ security personnel who will be staged at the parking area, 
food/seating area, check-in, and throughout the walking trail and site. 



 
PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.1  

9/18/2025 

Circulation 

Employee arrival and departures will occur before and after the hours of operation. 

Guests will arrive in intervals based on the timed ticketing system. With the time 
ticketing system, no more than 45 people may start the attraction every 15 minutes. 
Most participants will carpool so it is estimated that there will be 15 cars every 15 
minutes (average of 3 persons per car). 

Cars driving to The Haunted Forest will be required to enter on the southern 
connection of HWY 49 and Pacific Street. The road at HWY 49 is long and will allow 
cars to exist smoothly onto Pacific Street. The distance from HWY 49 to the property 
is long enough to accommodate the traffic. 

Due to the narrow width of the street, the cars will then need to exit onto HWY 49 at 
the northern connection from Pacific Street. This will create a one-way path of travel 
for cars associated with the Haunted Forest. Caltrans has reviewed the proposed 
circulation plan and has approved it with a right turn onto HWY 49 when exiting, 
thereby requiring vehicles to use the roundabout for safety. 

Parking will occur on site both in the existing parking area and in the area surrounding 
the existing building. On-site attendants will assist cars with parking. No permanent 
structures, parking lines, paving, or similar items are proposed as a part of this 
project.  

The following two figures show the circulation plan with HWY 49 and Pacific Street 
and on-site circulation.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 





 
PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.1  

9/18/2025 

Figure 3: On-site Circulation Plan 

 

Staff has included Condition of Approval No. 1 which requires the operator to 
incorporate the following to ensure that the use will not significantly impact traffic on 
Pacific Street and the highway. 

• The operator shall inform all patrons when ordering their ticket of the approved 
path of travel when driving to the site.  

• Information on entering and exiting the site shall also be provided on the 
operators website. 

• The entrance into the project site shall be marked with signage. 

• An employee shall be stationed at the exit point of the site directing vehicles 
to the northern connection at HWY 49. 

 



 
PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.1  

9/18/2025 

• A “No Entry” sign shall be placed at the site’s exit point. 

• A sign notifying patrons of the entrance point from HWY 49 shall be placed on 
the City’s right-of-way identifying the proper path of travel for vehicles. The 
sign shall be placed in this area 30 minutes prior to opening and removed 
following the last entrance of the day. 

• A sign notifying patrons that they may only make a right turn out of Pacific 
Street onto HWY 49 shall be placed on the City’s right-of-way 30 minutes prior 
to opening and removed following the last entrance of the day. 

• An employee shall be located at the project entrance to direct vehicles into the 
site. 

• If at any point during the Temporary Use Permit the City determines that 
additional measures are required in order to reduce traffic impacts, the 
operator shall immediately incorporate the measures into their operations. 

Dust Control 

The property has been used for industrial and mining uses for several years. A 
Phase 1 Environmental Assessment (ESA) was conducted to review the ground to 
determine if there is the potential for negative impacts to the public related to 
ground disturbance (walking, driving, etc.).  

The Phase 1 ESA determined that the project would not result in negative impacts 
with implementation of the dust control measures identified in the ESA. These 
measures are included in the Applicant’s written statement as well as in the project 
conditions of approval (COA No. 14). 

Emergency Response Plan 

The Applicants have prepared an Emergency Response Plan with help from the 
Amador County Fire Prevention Officer. The Fire Prevention Officer has reviewed 
and approved the emergency response plan (Attachment 10). 

Liability 

The City is not liable for the use in granting this permit. The operator is responsible 
for all liability. However, to protect the City, Condition of Approval No. 3 (a 
standard condition) requires indemnification of the City and Condition of Approval 
No. 4 (a standard condition for Temporary Use Permits) requires the operator to 
obtain insurance and name the City as an additional policy holder to further protect 
the City. 



 
PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.1  

9/18/2025 

Public Comment 

Mailed notices to all property owners and occupants within 300 feet of the project 
site were notified earlier than the required ten (10) days to allow residents to reach 
out to the City to discuss the project or submit concerns. The City has received two 
comments from the public (Attachment 5) at the time of publishing.  

Departmental Review 

All relevant City departments (Public Works, Engineering, Fire, Police, Building) have 
reviewed the application. No objections were raised.  
 

CONCLUSION 
 
The proposed use is temporary. The use will provide revenue for the City as well as 
entertainment for residents and the surrounding area. The site is over 30 acres in 
size and well suited to host this event. Adequate parking will be provided. Conditions 
of approval have been included to reduce impacts to the surrounding area with 
respect to noise, trash, circulation, and safety. 
 
Approval of The Haunted Forest is for a specific period of time (until November 1, 
2025). Should the property owner wish to operate in the future, a new Temporary 
Use Permit will be required, and Staff would bring the permit to the Planning 
Commission for review again. 

CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT (CEQA) 
The proposed project is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
due to Section 15304, Class 4, Minor Alterations to Land. The Haunted Forest is 
temporary, includes no permanent structures or mass grading and conditions have 
been included in the project to ensure there are no permanent impacts. Subsection 
e exempts “minor temporary use of land having negligible or no permanent effects 
on the environment, including carnivals, sales of Christmas trees, etc.” 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION OPTIONS 

The Planning Commission has several options, which are listed below: 

1. Adopt a Resolution approving a Temporary Use Permit, subject to the 
conditions included in the draft Resolution. 



 
PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.1  

9/18/2025 

2. Adopt the draft Resolutions with modifications to the conditions of approval or 
project by the Planning Commission. 

3. Continue the public hearing to a certain date and direct staff and/or the 
applicant to return with additional information, revised plans, or alternative 
conditions the Commission believes are necessary to support the findings. 

4. Deny the Temporary Use Permit. 
 
Staff recommends option 1. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Planning Commission Resolution 2025-10 approving a Temporary Use Permit 
for The Haunted Forest. 

2. Written Statement received July 17, 2025 and August 29, 2025. 
3. Circulation Plan 
4. Emergency Response Plan 
5. Public Comments 



PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 2025-10 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
APPROVING A TEMPORARY USE PERMIT (PA 2025-12) TO ALLOW A 

TEMPORARY HALLOWEEN ATTRACTION ON A 30 ACRE PARCEL LOCATED AT 
9424 PACIFIC STREET (APN 010-150-016) 

 
WHEREAS, the Applicants, Sam and Sherean Maynard, have submitted a 

Temporary Use Permit application (PA 2025-12) requesting approval to operate the 
Haunted Forest, on a temporary basis, on an existing developed parcel located at 9424 
Pacific Street; and 

 
WHEREAS, the existing site was used for many years for industrial uses; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 19.14.020, a Temporary Use Permit is required 

for any events which are temporary in nature and the proposed Halloween attraction will 
operate on limited days and for less than two months; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning Director is charged with reviewing and deciding on 

Temporary Use Permits (section 19.14020(C)); and 
 
WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 19.04.140(B) the Planning Director may 

transfer decision making authority to the Planning Commission if the Director determines 
there are unique circumstances which should be reviewed during a public hearing. In 
accordance with that Section, the Planning Director transferred the decision making 
authority on this project to the Planning Commission due to the unique nature of the 
request and because the project is located on land that is zoned Standard Residential; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, on September 18, 2025, the Planning Commission held a duly noticed 

public hearing to consider PA 2025-12, at which time all interested persons were given 
an opportunity to appear and be heard on the matter; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has reviewed the staff report and 

supporting documents, including the Applicant’s project description, proposed floor plans, 
and analysis of potential impacts, and has determined that the project, as conditioned, 
will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission finds the project exempt from the California 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) due to Section 15304, Class 4 (subsection e), Minor 
Alterations to Land, because the use is temporary and will have no permanent effects on 
the property; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission finds that all required Temporary Use 

Permit findings can be made in support of the project, including that the use is consistent 
with the General Plan, consistent with the zoning and development standards, suitable 



for the site, compatible with the surrounding area, and not detrimental to the public health, 
safety, or welfare based on the following findings: 

 
A. The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the use will not, under the 

circumstances of the particular case, be detrimental to the health safety, or general 
welfare of persons residing or working in the neighborhood of the proposed use 
because: 
 

1. The proposed use is temporary and will operate on select days through the 
end of October. No permanent improvements or structures are proposed 
as part of the project. 

 
2. Conditions of Approval have been included which regulate noise, clean-up 

of the site and surrounding area. 
 

3. The project includes an Emergency Response Plan which has been 
reviewed and approved by the Fire Prevention Officer, to ensure adequate 
preparedness in the event of an emergency. 

 
4. Caltrans has reviewed the proposed circulation plan. 

 
5. The use will require a one-way path of travel for entering and exiting the 

site on Pacific Street. Conditions of approval have been included to ensure 
this requirement is followed. 

 
B. The use, as described, will not be detrimental or injurious to property and 

improvements in the neighborhood or to the general welfare of the City because: 
 

1. The proposed Haunted Forest is located on a property that is currently 
developed and was used for many years as an industrial property. 
 

2. The use is temporary. Any future operation of this use on the site will require 
a new Temporary Use Permit prior to operation. 

 
3. No permanent structures or modifications to the surrounding roadway 

network are proposed. 
 

C. Approved measures for the removal of the use and site restoration have been 
required to ensure that no change to the site would limit the range of possible future 
land uses otherwise allowed by this Zoning Code because: 
 

1. Conditions of approval have been included requiring clean-up of the site 
and restoration. 

 



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Planning Commission of the City 
of Plymouth that it hereby approves Temporary Use Permit PA 2025-12, subject to the 
following conditions of approval. 

 
Conditions of Approval 

PA 2025-12 
 

1. Approval. This approval is for a Temporary Use Permit for the Haunted Forest located 
at 9424 Pacific Street. This approval allows The Haunted Forest to operate 
Wednesday through Saturday from September through the end of October 2025. The 
use shall conform to the written statement and plans dated July 17 and August 29, 
2025. No modifications shall be made except with written permission by the Planning 
Director. 
 

2. Hours of Operation. Hours of operation for the Haunted Forest are Wednesdays and 
Thursdays from 9AM until 10 PM. Fridays and Saturdays from 9AM until Midnight with 
patrons limited to 30 patrons per time slot from 10 PM until Midnight. 

 
3. Expiration. This Temporary Use Permit shall expire on November 1, 2025. 
 
4. Indemnification. The Permittee/Property Owner shall defend, indemnify, and hold 

harmless the City of Plymouth, its officers, agents, and employees from any claim, 
action, or proceeding against the City or its agents, officers, or employees to attack, 
set aside, void, or annul this Conditional Use Permit approval, or related 
environmental review, provided that the City promptly notifies the Permittee of any 
such claim and fully cooperates in the defense of the City. The Permittee shall 
reimburse the City for any court costs and attorney’s fees that the City may be required 
to pay as a result of any such legal challenge, but the Permittee shall have the right 
to choose counsel to defend such action (subject to City’s approval of the counsel) at 
Permittee’s expense. The City may, at its sole discretion, participate in the defense of 
any such action, but such participation shall not relieve the Permittee of its obligations 
under this condition. This indemnification shall survive the expiration or revocation of 
the permit. 

 
5. Insurance. The operator shall hold insurance in the amount of one million dollars and 

shall name the City as an additional policy holder. Proof of insurance shall be 
submitted to the Planning Director prior to the opening of the attraction. The insurance 
shall cover the operator/property owner and the City until November 1, 2025. 

 
6. Appeal of Commission Decision. The Planning Commission’s decision shall become 

effective 10 days after the date of this Resolution unless an appeal is filed within that 
10-day period to the City Council, in accordance with PMC Chapter [19.04.160 or 
applicable]. If an appeal is filed, this CUP shall not become effective until the appeal 
is resolved, and a final decision is made by the City Council. 

 



7. Noise Control: The operator shall conduct the business in a manner that minimizes 
noise impacts to surrounding properties. The operator shall comply with the City of 
Plymouth’s Noise regulations (e.g., Municipal Code and General Plan Noise Element 
standards). Specific noise-control requirements include: 

 
a. Noise Limit. No amplified sound shall be audible 50 feet from the location of 

said sound from the hours of 9:00 PM until 8:00 AM. Noise shall be controlled 
at all other times of day so that noise does not extend beyond the property line. 
 

b. Patrons. The operator shall strictly enforce noise after 9:00 PM. The operator 
shall employ personnel to ensure patrons do not loiter in the parking areas or 
the public right-of-way to ensure noise in the surrounding area is minimal. 
 

c. Noise Complaints: In the event that verified noise complaints are received by 
the City, the Planning Director may require the Permittee to implement further 
noise mitigation, and/or may refer the permit back to the Planning Commission 
for possible amendment or revocation if noise issues are not resolved.  
 

8. Public Peace and Order. The operator shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that 
patrons do not disturb the peace or create safety hazards in the vicinity. The 
Operator’s staff shall routinely monitor the property and the surrounding neighborhood 
to prevent loitering, loud conduct, or other nuisance behavior. If issues arise with 
loitering or nuisance outside, the Operator shall work with the Plymouth Police 
(Amador County Sheriff) to resolve them, which may include hiring additional security 
personnel. 
 

9. Trash and Waste Management. The Operator shall maintain the premises in a clean 
and sanitary condition. Sufficient trash and recycling receptacles shall be provided to 
serve the site, and the Operators shall engage the City’s waste provider for trash pick-
up. The Operator shall regularly check the property frontage and beyond and shall 
remove all waste from the public right-of-way. 

 

10. Safety and Security. The Operator shall employe security personnel to ensure safety 
of patrons and vehicles. The Operator shall provide all measures noted in their written 
statement and shall follow the approved Emergency Response Plan. Additionally, the 
Operator shall train all employees on the Emergency Response Plan. 
 

11. Circulation. Traffic (including employees and patrons) shall enter the site from the 
southern connection of HWY 49/Pacific Street and exit at the norther connection of 
HWY 49/Pacific Street. When leaving, all vehicles shall make a right turn only at HWY 
49. In order to ensure safe circulation, the operators shall do all of the following: 

• The operator shall inform all patrons when ordering their ticket of the approved 
path of travel when driving to the site.  



• Information on entering and exiting the site shall also be provided on the operators 
website. 

• The entrance into the project site shall be marked with signage. 
• A “No Entry” sign shall be placed at the site’s exit point. 
• An employee shall be stationed at the exit point of the site directing vehicles to the 

northern connection at HWY 49. 
• A sign notifying patrons of the entrance point from HWY 49 shall be placed on the 

City’s right-of-way identifying the proper path of travel for vehicles. The sign shall 
be placed in this area 30 minutes prior to opening and removed following the last 
entrance of the day. 

• A sign notifying patrons that they may only make a right turn out of Pacific Street 
onto HWY 49 shall be placed on the City’s right-of-way 30 minutes prior to opening 
and removed following the last entrance of the day. 

• An employee shall be located at the project entrance to direct vehicles into the site. 
• If at any point during the Temporary Use Permit the City determines that additional 

measures are required in order to reduce traffic impacts, the operator shall 
immediately incorporate the measures into their operations. 

12. Food Trucks. All food trucks shall have a City of Plymouth Business License and shall 
have a permit from the Amador County Health Department. The operators of The 
Haunted Forest shall ensure that any food truck or other vendor operating on the site 
has a copy of a valid Business License from the City. 
 

13. Grading. If any grading activities are to be performed, a grading plan shall be prepared 
by a licensed engineer for review and approval by the City Engineer prior to any 
commencement of grading activities. The grading plan shall show all grading activities 
and compliance with the Dust Control condition of approval (below). 

 
14. Dust Control Plan. The Applicant shall employ the following measures during this 

Temporary Use Permit period: 
 
a. Limit speeds to 5 mph on all dirt and gravel roads. The operator shall install 

signage on all dirt roads and in the parking lot advising the public that the speed 
limit is 5 mph. The operator shall also employ a security person or other 
employee to monitor speed in these areas. 

b. Gravel shall be installed on all high traffic areas (to the satisfaction of the City 
Engineer). 

c. The operator shall water all roads and trails and other areas that may come in 
contact prior to and during the event to limit dust. 

d. The exit area/exit onto the public right-of-way shall be regularly swept and 
cleaned of all dirt, dust, gravel and debris. 
 

15. Site Clean-up. After the expiration of the Temporary Use Permit, the site and 
surrounding public-right-of-way shall be cleaned of all materials, signs, cones, flags, 
sets, trash, and all other materials associated with the use and the area shall be 
returned to its normal state. 



 
16. Accessory Structures or Storage Units. Any storage units or accessory structures 

designed to hold goods or materials shall require approval of a separate permit from 
the Planning and/or Building Department. 
 

17. ADA. The site shall provide accessibility as required by the American with Disabilities 
Act. The operator shall prepare a plan showing ADA accessibility for the Building 
Official for review and approval prior to operations. If necessary, the operator shall 
also apply for a building permit. 

 
18. Future Operations. Any temporary use or other permanent use beyond this approval 

will require prior approval by the City. Should the applicant wish to operate The 
Haunted Forest in 2026, the operator shall apply for a new Temporary Use Permit no 
later than April 2026. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Planning Commission of the City of Plymouth on 

this 18th day of September 2025, by the following vote: 
 
AYES:   

NOES:     

ABSENT:    

ABSTAIN:    

 

 
  
 __________________________ 
 Michael Sullivan, Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Dana Knight, Planning Clerk 
 
 

 





Conditional Use Permit Application 

Seasonal Fall Festive Attraction 
Empire Mine Property 
9424 Pacific Street, Plymouth, CA 95669 

 

About Us 

We are a small, family-owned business that has successfully operated The Haunted Forest, LLC, a 
seasonal Halloween attraction, for eight nonconsecutive seasons. Originally based in Winters, 
California, we recently acquired the historic Plymouth Consolidated (Empire) Mine property, 
allowing us to relocate our event to this exciting and scenic location permanently. 

Our vision is to continue delivering an unforgettable, high-quality Halloween experience that offers 
exceptional value to our guests and serves as a source of pride and benefit to the City of Plymouth. 
In our previous locations, the Haunted Forest became a seasonal highlight for the entire community. 
Local wineries and restaurants consistently reported October as their highest-revenue month of the 
year, directly attributing the increase in business to the guests attending our event. 

We are excited to bring that same positive impact to Plymouth—boosting local tourism, supporting 
small businesses, and providing the community with a fun and unique attraction they can enjoy year 
after year. 

 

Project Overview 

We propose to host an annual Seasonal Halloween Attraction on the property during October, 
offering a unique and festive experience for the community. The event features two distinct 
components: 

1. Haunted Trail Walk 
A thrilling 30- to 40-minute guided walk through a specially designed trail with various 
immersive sets and scenes that create a spooky yet family-friendly atmosphere. The trail is 
designed to delight guests while maintaining a safe and respectful environment. 

2. Enchanted Trail Walk (for Children and Parents) 
Using the same trail as the Haunted Walk, the Enchanted Trail takes place during daylight 
hours in the late afternoon and early evening. This experience is not scary but instead fairy-
tale themed, fun, festive, and designed to be enjoyed by guests of all ages. It offers a 
magical, light-hearted atmosphere perfect for families with young children or anyone 
seeking a non-scary fall celebration. 

 



Operational Details 

 Event Duration: Annually, from the last week of September through November 2nd. 
 Hours of Operation: 

o Evenings (Haunted Trail): 7 PM – Midnight. 
o Enchanted Trail (Daytime Activities): 9 AM – 7 PM. 

 Closed Days: Typically closed Sunday, Monday, and Tuesday. 
 Ticketing: Guests purchase tickets in advance and are assigned a specific time slot, ensuring 

a steady flow of arrivals, minimizing crowding, and enhancing the overall experience. 
Ticketing and check-in are managed at the on-site ticket station. 

 

Food, Seating & Restroom Facilities 

To enhance the guest experience and provide essential amenities, the event will include the 
following: 

 Food Trucks: Two to three food trucks will be on-site, offering a variety of food, drinks, 
and treats for guests to enjoy throughout the event. 

 Seating Area: The existing Woodman Truss shade structure will serve as a designated 
eating area, outfitted with picnic tables and informal seating. 

 Restrooms: The existing restroom facility on-site will be available for public use. 
Additional portable restrooms will be brought in as needed. 

 Site Map Reference: The attached site map shows the planned locations for food trucks, 
seating, and restroom facilities. 

 

Site Map 

This application includes a detailed site map outlining the entire property boundaries and 
highlighting the primary location of the seasonal event. Key features include: 

 Entrance and Traffic Flow: 
Two traffic flow options are proposed: 

Preferred Plan (Option A): 
Guests will enter and exit the property from the north side, using the existing gated entrance 
located near the roundabout on Highway 49, just south of the PG&E facility. This road 
already exists and is located entirely on our private land. Minor improvements will be made 
to the gate and bollards before the event's commencement. 
Guests will park along the existing private road (see site map) and then enjoy a tractor-
pulled hayride to the main public event area, located near the Woodman Truss Building on 
Pacific Street. 



This plan reduces traffic along Pacific Street, separates guest parking from pedestrian areas, 
and minimizes the visibility of vehicle headlights in the festive zone. 

Alternative Plan (Option B): 
Guests will enter from Pacific Street and park near the Woodman Truss Building area. This 
portion of the property has ample space to accommodate event parking as needed. 

Parking Management: 
In both scenarios, trained parking attendants will be on-site to direct traffic and manage 
vehicle flow. 

 Facilities Utilization: 
o Woodman Truss Plant Parking Lot & Grounds: Used for guest gathering, food 

trucks, seating, and event staging. 
o Restrooms: Existing facilities will be used. Portable restrooms will be added as 

needed. 
 Emergency Access: The site map identifies clear access routes for emergency vehicles to 

ensure efficient response in case of an incident. 

 

Employees & Security 

The Haunted Forest typically requires 30 to 40 part-time seasonal staff members per night. 
These team members fill a variety of roles, including: 

 Themed actors and actresses 
 Parking attendants 
 Ticketing staff 
 Maintenance personnel 
 Security and crowd control 
 Managers and supervisors 

The business is co-owned and actively operated by Sam and Sherean Maynard, along with their 
four adult children and their spouses, who make up the senior leadership and operations team. This 
family-led structure provides consistency, accountability, and a high standard of quality and safety 
in every aspect of the event. 

Most staff are hired locally from the community and receive hands-on training from senior team 
members. Training encompasses both specific role duties and emergency preparedness protocols to 
ensure a safe experience for both guests and staff. 

Security Personnel are stationed at key locations throughout the event, including: 

 Guest parking areas 
 Ticketing and check-in 
 Food and seating zones 



 Inside the walking trail and around public gathering spaces 

 

Set Design & Scene Description 

All sets and scenes used in the Haunted Forest trail are temporary and do not involve any 
permanent structures. 

Guests will experience a variety of creative and immersive scenes during the 30- to 40-minute walk. 
These sets are constructed using lightweight, movable materials such as fabric, wood, and themed 
props. Each scene is thoughtfully placed along the trail to create atmosphere while maintaining 
guest safety and ease of movement. 

Examples of typical scenes guests may encounter include: 

 Army tents arranged to form a haunted encampment 
 Old wooden fencing used to guide guests and shape environments 
 A cemetery scene featuring artificial headstones and decorative elements 
 Spider webs, lighting effects, and visual props for ambiance 
 A maze created with repurposed doors and hay bales 
 A swamp scene built around a greenhouse frame with spider webs and burlap 
 A miner’s camp using vintage-style Boy Scout tents 

All elements are designed to be temporary, modular, and consistent with the overall character of a 
seasonal, outdoor event. 

 

Environmental Site Assessment 

A Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) was conducted for the property and is included 
with the electronic submittal of this application. The complete report exceeds 400 pages, with the 
Executive Summary (comprising the first 20 pages) providing a clear and concise overview of the 
findings. 

A qualified geologist conducted the assessment in accordance with ASTM standards. Based on the 
site visit, historical records review, and environmental database research, the report did not identify 
any recognized environmental conditions (RECs), controlled recognized environmental 
conditions (CRECs), or historic recognized environmental conditions (HRECs) associated with 
the property. 

The final conclusion of the report states: 
“No Further Investigation is Warranted.” 

(End of Document) 





















until 10 p.m., in direct violation of our city’s noise ordinance, which begins at 9:00 p.m. This
means our neighborhood and our Airbnb guests will be subjected to loud disturbances
every 20 minutes late into the night.

Equally troubling, the designated parking lot is dirt and gravel, located in the middle of a
residential neighborhood. The steady arrival and departure of cars will generate significant
dust, headlights shining into windows, and noise from engines and voices. This will
drastically reduce the quality of life for us, our neighbors and for the paying guests who
come here specifically for a peaceful retreat.

Community Impact and Reputation: Our small town is known for its quiet, safe
environment. Introducing a haunted forest with fire hazards, traffic bottlenecks, dust, noise,
and late-night disturbances undermines our community’s reputation and livability. If even
one serious incident occurs—as national trends strongly suggest is likely—the long-term
damage will far outweigh any short-term entertainment value.

Request to the Commission: Given these clear and serious dangers, we respectfully
request that the Planning Commission deny the proposal for the haunted forest attraction.
At minimum, no event involving open flames in a forest, continuous late-night traffic on
unsafe roads, dirt and gravel parking next to residences, or operation past the 9:00 p.m.
noise ordinance should be approved under any circumstances. Again, this is a residential
neighborhood being asked to endure over 20 days of significant disruption. 

Our community does not have the infrastructure or resources to absorb the risks posed by
this attraction. Please protect the safety of our residents, the well-being of our visitors, and
the character of our town by rejecting this proposal.

Comparable ‘haunted forest’ and outdoor haunt operations in other towns have
faced sustained neighbor complaints—specifically noise, lights, traffic, and safety—that
prompted zoning boards to deny/withdraw permits. In addition, approving this event would
expose the City of Plymouth to significant liability. Haunted forest operations across the
country have been the subject of lawsuits stemming from accidents, injuries, and code
violations. If even one visitor or neighbor were harmed due to traffic congestion, fire
hazards, or unsafe conditions, the City could be named in costly litigation for permitting the
event. Our town is already limited in financial and legal resources, and we cannot afford to
take on new risks or the burden of defending lawsuits that could have been prevented. The
Planning Commission has a duty to safeguard the City from avoidable liability, and allowing
this event would do the opposite.

We understand and support businesses in our town—indeed, we welcome them; however,
not ones that do not put the safety and serenity of our town and its residents first and not
ones such as this that are situated in a quiet residentially zoned neighborhood.

Thank you for your time and your commitment to safeguarding our community.

Sincerely,
Steve and Elizabeth Pinotti

 

CC under separate email: Planning Commissioners, City Planner, City Council, City Manager.

 

ABC57 News. “House of Horrors Closes Doors after County Concerns.” ABC57, 29 Oct. 2024,
https://www.abc57.com/news/house-of-horrors-closes-doors-after-county-concerns.
ABC7 New York. “FDNY Shuts Down ‘Death Trap’ Haunted House in Queens.” ABC7NY, 11 Oct. 2024,
https://abc7ny.com/post/fdny-shuts-down-death-trap-haunted-house-called-haunting-hollis-queens/15408941/.
ClickOnDetroit (WDIV Local 4). “Westland Closes Down Panic Haunted Experience.” ClickOnDetroit, 14 Oct. 2018,
https://www.clickondetroit.com/news/2018/10/15/westland-closes-down-panic-haunted-experience/.
“Haunted Forest in Limbo after Board Calls for Study.” Yahoo! News, 30 May 2023,



https://www.yahoo.com/news/haunted-forest-limbo-board-calls-121900207.html.
“The Haunted Forests to Remain Closed as Litigation with Town Continues.” Yahoo! News, 5 July 2024,
https://www.yahoo.com/news/haunted-forests-remain-closed-litigation-121600674.html.
Matter of Haunted Forest, LLC v. Town of Wilson. 2025 NY Slip Op 04361. Appellate Division, Fourth Department,
25 July 2025. Justia Law, https://law.justia.com/cases/new-york/appellate-division-fourth-department/2025/500-ca-
24-00599.html.
Matter of Haunted Forest, LLC v. Town of Wilson. 2025 NY Slip Op 04362. Appellate Division, Fourth Department,
25 July 2025. Justia Law, https://law.justia.com/cases/new-york/appellate-division-fourth-department/2025/501-ca-
24-01568.html.
New York State Department of Environmental Conservation. “Town of Wilson Zoning Board of Appeals (ZBA) —
Haunted Forests LLC (Positive Declaration).” Environmental Notice Bulletin, 19 July 2023,
https://dec.ny.gov/news/environmental-notice-bulletin/2023-07-19/seqr/town-of-wilson-zoning-board-of-appeals-
zba-haunted-forests-llc.
Phillipp, Charlotte. “‘Death Trap’ Haunted House Shut Down by Fire Department.” People, 11 Oct. 2024,
https://people.com/death-trap-haunted-house-shut-down-by-fire-department-8727495.
Sherburne County Planning Advisory Commission. “Meeting Minutes, 19 Sept. 2024.” Sherburne County, 19 Sept.
2024, https://www.co.sherburne.mn.us/AgendaCenter/ViewFile/Minutes/_09192024-569. PDF.
WPDE ABC15 News. “Request from Horry Co. to Dismantle Carolina Forest Haunted House Isn’t Scaring
Homeowner.” WPDE, 25 Oct. 2023, https://wpde.com/news/local/horry-county-code-enforcement-request-to-
dismantle-carolina-forest-neighborhood-oakbury-haunted-house-cease-desist-notifications-violations-homeowner-
randy-dorenbos-yard-deorations-construction-stopped-halloween-events-south-carolina-october-25-2023.
WMBF News. “Horry County Claims Spooky Staple in Carolina Forest Neighborhood Is ‘Unlawful’.” WMBF, 24 Oct.
2023, https://www.wmbfnews.com/2023/10/24/horry-county-claims-spooky-staple-carolina-forest-neighborhood-is-
unlawful/.
WSBT 22 (Oudhoff, Nick). “Residential Haunted House Permit Gets Denied in Elkhart.” WSBT, 29 Oct. 2024,
https://wsbt.com/news/local/residential-haunted-house-permit-gets-denied-spooky-elkhart-indiana-traffic-
complaints-noise.
WXYZ Detroit (Scripps Media). “Westland Haunted Forest Abruptly Shut Down by City, Leaving Customers in the
Dark.” WXYZ, 15 Oct. 2018, https://www.wxyz.com/news/region/wayne-county/westland-haunted-forest-abruptly-
shut-down-by-city-leaving-customers-in-the-dark.

 





residents who live within its boundaries.

Thank you





2

this. Then, last weekend, we were forced to refund another $500 because tractor work began in 
the early morning hours. When we must refund customers, we not only lose what they paid, but we 
also absorb the water and utilities costs of resources those guests used—and we all know how 
expensive electricity and water are these days.  
   
Asking our guests—and our neighborhood—to endure this over 21 days of nuisance from 6:00 
p.m. to after 10:00 p.m. is not reasonable. Add the road traffic and the people noise, and it 
becomes untenable.  
   
October is our busiest month, and this October is slated to be our busiest month ever due to 
significant advertising and extras we have put into our rentals. If the Haunted Forest is allowed to 
open, we must notify every guest that we cannot deliver the “quiet stay” we advertise. It is highly 
likely that we will be forced to issue over $7,000 in refunds—again, on target to be our best month 
ever. This is signifiant growth for us, in a time when all business are struggling, this is an untenable 
ask of us.  
   
There are safety concerns, too. Pacific Street is narrow—in places, two cars can’t even pass—
and it’s in rough shape. More traffic will make a bad situation worse, not to mention the crime, fire 
hazard, and riffraff this type of event brings.  
   
I also want to address intent and zoning. The new owners purchased this property already 
zoned residential, with the intention of operating a large-scale amusement. That purpose is not 
residential. By contrast, we purchased two historic homes—both tear-downs—and invested to 
restore them, keeping as much period detail as possible in a town where historic buildings are 
being lost. We followed the zoning and built our livelihood around it.  
   
Choosing to grant the request to operate the Haunted Forest would be choosing a business that 
wants to operate in an area not zoned for it over an established residential business that has 
complied with the rules, preserved historic assets, and relied on the city’s word. We bought in a 
residential zone because we trusted the city’s commitment. Please honor that commitment. Protect 
our neighborhood, our safety, and our livelihoods. Keep this area residential and do not approve a 
large-scale amusement use here.  
   
Potential solution: While not ideal—because the safety, fire crime, and security concerns of the 
Haunted Forest still exist—residential disruption can be minimized and Pacific Street, which 
is narrow and barely in the condition to withstand normal wear and tear, can be protected if the 
Haunted Mansion moves its parking lot to the property entrance near the substation. There, it 
will not impact houses or a tiny road not meant for extreme traffic.  
   
Thank you for your time.  
   



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
8.1 



 
PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 8.1 

9/18/2025 

 

SUBJECT:   Objective Design Standards 
 
DEPARTMENT:   Planning Department 
 
STAFF:     Erica Fraser, AICP, Planning Director 
    
 

TITLE 

Review of modifications to existing requirements related to the Objective Design 
Standards for the City of Plymouth. 

BACKGROUND 

During the review of a prior project, the Planning Commission requested that Staff bring 
back a discussion of the permitted and conditionally permitted uses within the downtown. 

Properties in the downtown are zoned VC (Village Commercial). There are a number of 
permitted and conditionally permitted uses within this zoning district. 

Permitted uses are uses permitted by right and only a Business License is required to 
operate the use. These uses are uses that the City does not believe will cause significant 
impacts on the surrounding area.  

Administrative Use Permits (AUP) require review by the Planning Director and the 
Director provides a notice to all properties within 300 feet of the property if approved. 
These uses are considered to be uses which are minor in nature and unlikely to cause 
significant impacts, but which the City has determined warrants review to ensure they will 
not impact the adjacent properties.   

Conditionally permitted uses (CUP) are uses which require review by the Planning 
Commission during a public hearing. These uses are considered to have the potential for 
impacts and therefore by reviewing the use during a public hearing, the public has a 
chance to comment, and the Planning Commission can impose conditions which seek to 
reduce negative impacts. Both the AUP and CUP also allow the City to review the 
proposal, ensure there is adequate parking, and work with the applicant prior to the 
hearing to reduce potential impacts. 









 
PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 8.1 

9/18/2025 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING PURPOSE 

The purpose of tonight’s meeting is to discuss and give staff direction on any changes or 
additions the Planning Commission would like made to the Use Matrix for commercial 
properties.  

NEXT STEPS 

Following tonight’s meeting, Staff will bring the revised use matrix to the Planning 
Commission for review during a study session along with proposed amendments to 
Chapter 19.18, Zoning Clearance and Design Review. Together, these amendments are 
aimed at providing clear requirements for permits and to allow additional uses within the 
City to support the community. 

ATTACHMENTS 

None 




